IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 22-ICA-164

ICA EFiled: Jan 09 2023

02:05PM EST

Transaction ID 68831183

IPI, INC. and MATTHEW JOSEPH TAYLOR,

Plaintiffs Below, Appellants,

v.

AXIALL CORPORATION and EAGLE NATRIUM, LLC,

Defendants Below, Appellees.

Appeal from a final order of the Circuit Court of Marshall County, West Virginia (18-C-14)

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANTS IPI, INC. AND MATTHEW JOSEPH TAYLOR

Counsel for Appellants, IPI, Inc. and Matthew Joseph Taylor,

Peter G. Markham (WVSB #9396)
Patrick C. Timony (WVSB #11717)
Zachary J. Rosencrance (WVSB #13040)
J. Tyler Barton (WVSB #14044)
BOWLES RICE LLP
Post Office Box 1386
Charleston, West Virginia

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Appellees Axiall Corporation ("Axiall") and Eagle Natrium, LLC ("Eagle Natrium") exposed Appellants IPI, Inc. ("IPI") and Matthew Taylor to chlorine gas while IPI and Taylor were power washing and painting in Axiall's facility. IPI and Taylor sustained personal injuries and property damages, and they commenced this lawsuit against Axiall and Eagle Natrium. The Circuit Court of Marshall County awarded summary judgment¹ to Axiall and Eagle Natrium on IPI's and Taylor's personal injury and property damage claims, determining that certain boilerplate indemnification provisions reflect their agreement to indemnify Axiall and Eagle Natrium on the claims.

The circuit court committed reversible error on the indemnity issue, because:

- 1. The boilerplate indemnity provisions only provide indemnification to Axiall and Eagle Natrium for damages arising within the scope of IPI's and Taylor's power washing and painting services, not for damages stemming from a wholly unrelated chlorine gas leak, in another part of Axiall's facility, over which IPI and Taylor had no responsibility or control; and
- 2. The boilerplate indemnity provisions do not "clearly and unequivocally" authorize indemnification for the chlorine gas leak, as required by governing Pennsylvania law.

This Court should reverse the circuit court's award of summary judgment in favor of Axiall and Eagle Natrium, and permit IPI and Taylor to advance their personal injury and property damage claims.

¹ Additionally, in a separate order, the circuit court awarded summary judgment in Appellees' favor on many of Appellants' substantive claims below. Although Appellants identified this separate summary judgment in its initial Notice of Appeal, Appellants only appeal the circuit courts' award of summary judgment with respect to Appellees' counterclaims for indemnity.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Introduction

This appeal arises from two tortfeasors' attempts to escape liability and shift the financial burden for their own wrongful conduct through unclear and inapplicable boilerplate indemnification provisions. Appellees Axiall Corporation ("Axiall") and Eagle Natrium, LLC ("Eagle Natrium") (collectively "Appellees") used a defective railcar to store and transport toxic chlorine gas, which then cracked, leaked and exposed Appellants IPI, Inc. ("IPI") and Matthew Joseph Taylor² ("Mr. Taylor") (collectively "Appellants") to lethal quantities of chlorine gas. As Appellants performed pressure washing and painting services in an area several hundred yards away from the defective railcar, 178,400 pounds of chlorine gas disseminated through the plant and exposed Appellants. JA 1148. Through this exposure, Mr. Taylor suffered severe physical and emotional injuries and IPI sustained hundreds-of-thousands of dollars' in equipment damage.

Despite the undisputed fact that the chlorine gas leak bore no causal relationship to the services performed by Appellants, the circuit court errantly granted summary judgment in Appellees' favor, finding that they were entitled to indemnification from Appellants pursuant to an Agreement for On-Site Services, as well as Purchase Order 4510044817, incorporating by reference certain Terms and Conditions that were never bargained for. JA 1–10. As explained below, however, the disputed indemnification provisions are not "clear and unequivocal," as required under Pennsylvania law, and they do not even apply to Appellants' claims in the circumstances. This Court must reverse the circuit court's Order and remand for further proceedings.

² Although Mr. Taylor is named as an Appellant in this appeal, the indemnification provisions discussed below in no way oblige Mr. Taylor to personally indemnify Axiall and Eagle Natrium for his injuries. Instead, to the extent any indemnification obligation exists, such obligation is limited to Appellant IPI, only.

II. Relevant Facts

Located in Elkview, West Virginia, IPI is a small contracting business that provides, among other things, industrial painting and power washing services to businesses throughout West Virginia. JA 11–13. Mr. Taylor, as IPI's president, routinely works onsite for many of IPI's projects. JA 13. Through IPI's commercial relationship with Appellees', Mr. Taylor worked onsite at Appellees' Natrium Plant (the "Plant") in New Martinsville, West Virginia. JA 11. On the date of their injuries, Mr. Taylor and IPI agreed to "[p]ower wash and paint #24 Condensate Tank" pursuant to Purchase Order 4510044817. JA 1149.

A. The First Chlorine Gas Leak

For decades, Appellants maintained a positive commercial relationship with Appellees due to their consistently reliable and cost-effective performance of services in the Plant. JA 1323–324. This relationship soured in August of 2016 when the first of two chemical leaks caused Appellants to be exposed to toxic levels of chlorine gas (the "First Chlorine Gas Leak").

On August 27, 2016, Appellants were performing power washing and painting services on Condensate Tank 24. JA 1325. Contemporaneously, but unrelated to Appellants' services, Appellees were attempting to load hundreds-of-thousands of pounds of chlorine gas into a 1979 railcar (the "Railcar") for transport in an entirely different department of the Plant. JA 1324–325. The 37-year-old Railcar utilized ACF Industries ACT-200 stub underframe, which the Federal Railroad Administration advised—nearly a decade before the gas leak in 2006—was "prone to defects such as tank head cracks, pad-to-tank cracks, sill web cracks, and tank shell buckling that in some instances led to release of hazardous materials." JA 1325.

Prophetically, the Railcar had a crack "near the inboard end of the stub sill cradle pad." JA 1325. As Appellees filled the defective Railcar with chlorine gas, the Railcar's crack widened,

ruptured, and released 178,400 pounds of toxic chlorine gas throughout the Plant, which migrated to the area where Mr. Taylor and two of IPI's employees were working on aerial platforms nearly forty feet in the air. JA 1325. No emergency alarms or sirens were activated, and the trio found themselves aloft in the midst of a chlorine gas cloud. JA 1325.

Mr. Taylor was first alerted that he and his employees were being exposed to chlorine gas when he noticed, out of the corner of his eye, the gas cloud descend upon them. As Mr. Taylor described:

[i]t's like falling out. And it's like – it's pretty huge. I mean, to sit there and witness that horrific size – I mean, it's all green. It seemed like the green, the chlorine gas itself was higher. . . . I was in fear. . . .

JA 1325. Mr. Taylor grabbed his escape respirator, returned to ground level, and directed his workers to apply their respirators. JA 1326. Mr. Taylor's action required him to remove his respirator to yell to IPI employees to apply their escape respirators. Resultingly, Mr. Taylor inhaled lethal chlorine gas. JA 1326.

Once Mr. Taylor got his employees' attention, they attempted to escape the Plant but were trapped by a locked gate, requiring them to wait before exiting. JA 1326. While being smothered by chlorine gas, Mr. Taylor realized the magnitude of the leak; he became fearful for his health and wellbeing. JA 1326. Exhausted from his exposure and inhalation of the lethal concentration of chlorine gas, Mr. Taylor stumbled out of the Plant, arrived at the Plant's clinic, and collapsed on a gurney. JA 1326.

After waiting for nearly an hour to be treated at the Plant clinic, Mr. Taylor was transferred via ambulance to Reynolds Memorial Hospital ("Reynolds") in Glen Dale, West Virginia. JA 1326–327. Mr. Taylor was suffering from chest tightness, vomiting, petechiae in his throat and

diaphoretic.³ JA 1327. The treating physician, Dr. Chad Richmond, D.O., noted that "[t]he effects of chlorine exposure [were] significant and delayed. . . . The risk of chemical inhalation burns [was] significant." JA 1327. Because Dr. Richmond was incapable of adequately treating Mr. Taylor's injuries, he was life-flighted to Ruby Memorial Hospital ("Ruby") in Morgantown, West Virginia for further evaluation and treatment. JA 1327. In addition to the serious and ongoing physical injuries sustained by Mr. Taylor, the First Chlorine Gas Leak irreparably damaged hundreds-of-thousands of dollars' worth of IPI's equipment. JA 1327.

Despite the First Chlorine Gas Leak, Mr. Taylor and IPI sought to maintain IPI's long-standing business relationship in the Plant. JA 1328. Appellees conducted a safety meeting in the months following the First Chlorine Gas Leak and Mr. Taylor attempted to address the lack of a working alarm in cases of emergency. JA 1330. Mr. Taylor's appropriate concerns, however, were met with laughter from Axiall officials. JA 1330.

Relatedly, in the aftermath of the First Chlorine Gas Leak, Axiall filed a civil complaint in the Court of Common Pleas of Allegheny, Pennsylvania against AllTransek LLC ("AllTransek"), Rescar, Inc. ("Rescar"), and Superheat FGH Services, Inc. ("Superheat") (hereinafter referred to as the "Pennsylvania Action"). *See Axiall Corporation v. AllTranstek, LLC, et al.*, Civil Division No. GD-18-010944, in the Court of Common Pleas of Allegheny County, Pennsylvania; *see also* Order Denying Axiall Corporation's Motion for Summary Judgment on Covestro's Liability Case, *Covestro, LLC v. Axiall Corporation*, Civil Action Nos.: 18-C-202, 18-C-203 (Cir. Ct. Marshall Cty., Bus. Ct. Div. Aug. 29, 2022) (hereinafter referred to as "Business Court Order"). The Pennsylvania Action, like the instant dispute, arose out of the First Chlorine Gas Leak and

³ "Petechiae are pinpoint, round spots that appear on the skin as a result of bleeding. The bleeding causes the petechiae to appear red, brown or purple. Petechiae commonly appear in clusters and may look like a rash." *See* Mayo Clinic, *Petechiae*, https://www.mayoclinic.org/symptoms/petechiae/basics/definition (last visited January 9, 2023).

AllTransek's, Rescar's, and Superheat's, alleged deficient repair of the Railcar. *See* Business Court Order at 2, ¶ 1. On October 14, 2021, the Pennsylvania Action's jury reached a verdict, concluding that Axiall was the primary party at fault, finding it negligent. *Id.* at 11–12, ¶ 29.

B. The Second Chlorine Gas Leak

On October 8, 2016—just 43 days after the First Chlorine Gas Leak—Appellants were again exposed to substantial amounts of chlorine gas while performing work at the Plant. JA 1328. Like the First Chlorine Gas Leak, the Second Chlorine Gas Leak resulted from circumstances that were completely disconnected from the services Appellants were contracted to perform. JA 1328. Specifically, Appellants were contracted to perform painting services on Tank 11 in the Plant's Caustic Department, which were likewise unrelated to the Second Chlorine Gas Leak. JA 1328. Hundreds of yards away, Appellees ignored critical safety alarms meant to alert the detection of chlorine backing up into an emergency vent line. JA 1328. Appellees ignored this alarm as a "false positive," and they allowed the backed-up chlorine to migrate from the Plant's chlorine department into the caustic department where Appellants were working. JA 1328.

Again, no alarms alerted Mr. Taylor and his employees of the Second Chlorine Gas Leak; rather, they became aware they were being exposed when Jay Jones, another IPI employee, smelled chlorine while working a manhole cover. JA 1329. As Mr. Taylor and his employees tried to flee the Second Chlorine Gas Leak, they again encountered a locked gate preventing their escape. JA 1330. Yet again, IPI's equipment was damaged as a result of its exposure to chlorine. Appellees refused to provide Mr. Taylor and his team with medical treatment following the Second Chlorine Gas Leak. JA 1330.

Enduring two chlorine gas leaks, the first of which almost killed Mr. Taylor, in the span of less than two months, irreparably damaged Mr. Taylor's psychological wellbeing. JA 112–14. As Mr. Taylor described:

I would have dreams, nightmares of being trapped in the plant in a tank. Some of them – there would be a couple of reoccurring dreams that were similar. As dreams are bizarre, I would try to find my way out, couldn't get out. Wondering was I would be at the north gate trying to get out and looking back and seeing a cloud coming towards me and being fearful, and of course I would wake up.

JA. 1394–395. Dawn Taylor, Mr. Taylor's wife and owner of IPI, noticed Mr. Taylor changed from the gas leaks.

He's [Mr. Taylor] very withdrawn. Very rarely goes out to eat or to a movie, very rarely talks to our kids. I mean, his relationship I believe with our kids have suffered over this just because he's so withdrawn, depressed. He'll come in from work, eat dinner, shower, go to bed, get up the next morning. A lot of times if they don't have work, I have to --- he'll stay in bed, you know, until --- Joey's always been a morning person up at 5:00 in the morning even if he didn't have to work. But now all he does come home and go to bed.

. . . .

A lot of times, you know, he would tell me the next morning, which I would know that something had happened because he woke up during the night and he would wake --- I would wake up, not by him actually like waking me up, but by him tossing and turning, or getting out of bed like to go downstairs getting a drink or whatever. And a lot of times he wouldn't be able to go back to sleep. So he would just go downstairs and sit in his office because he was afraid he would wake me up.

. . . .

[H]e's really withdrawn. He don't talk much. He doesn't --- every time he starts talking about the plant or, you know, if we discuss anything, he usually ends up having nightmares again. You know, they start back because I guess the subconscious mind won't let him – once he starts thinking about it, it stays in his mind or something.

JA 1983. Even Chuck Ziegler, a longtime Axiall employee who oversaw IPI and Mr. Taylor's work, even noticed material changes in Mr. Taylor's mental health. JA 1530.

Unable to understand what was happening, Mr. Taylor consulted with medical professionals. Dhashanini Nadarajah, M.D. diagnosed Mr. Taylor with PTSD and depression. CJA 119–21. As noted in the records, Mr. Taylor "reported he still constantly thinking and replaying the incident that happened at the chemical plant leak where he lost his job." CJA 122. In filing an action against Appellees, Mr. Taylor sought to recover his damages for his physical injuries, his company's equipment and, most importantly, the damages to his mental health from the PTSD from the *two* chlorine gas leaks in Appellees' Plant. Appellees attempted to escape these damages through their reliance on two indemnification provisions.

C. The Indemnification Provisions

In the proceedings below, Axiall and Eagle Natrium argued that Appellants' claims regarding the First Chlorine Gas Leak, and the First Chlorine Gas Leak only, were subject to two separate, but equally inapplicable, indemnification provisions. First, Appellees directed the circuit court to an Agreement for On-Site Services (the "AOS") executed by IPI and PPG Industries, Inc. prior to Appellees' ownership of the Plant. JA 1036. Second, Appellees directed the circuit court to Purchase Order 4510044817 (the "Purchase Order")—the specific purchase order under which Appellants were performing work in the Plant. Axiall and Eagle Natrium insisted that their Purchase Order General Conditions ("Terms and Conditions"), which contains an additional indemnification provision, were incorporated into all of Axiall's purchase orders, including the Purchase Order here. JA 1037.

⁴ Mr. Taylor worked with Dr. Nadarajah and Elizabeth Kent at WVUPC Behavioral Medical and Psychology for these conditions.

1. The Agreement for On-Site Services

In 2007, prior to Axiall's acquisition of the Plant, IPI entered into the AOS, which contains the following general indemnification provision:

[IPI] . . . agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless [Axiall and Eagle Natrium] . . . from and against any and all claims, liability, damage, loss, penalties, fines, cost and expense of any kind whatsoever which may accrue to or be sustained by any Buyer . . . arising out of this Agreement and/or the Services, including, without limitation, for the death of or injury to persons or destruction of property involving [IPI] . . . sustained in connection with performance of the Services, arising from any cause whatsoever (including without limitation, injuries resulting from failure of or defect in any equipment, instrument or device supplied by Buyer or their employees to Contractor, its employees, agents or representatives), except the extent arising out of the sole negligence or willful misconduct of the Buyer or its employees acting within the scope of their employment.

JA 1306 (emphasis added).

The AOS defines its "Scope of Services" as "certain on-site services (the "Services") to be performed by [IPI], at the [Plant], per the performance schedule, the pricing therefor, and for [Axiall and Eagle Natrium] as shall be specified and described in an 'Accepted Order,' and as required by and in accordance with [the AOS]." JA 1305. An "Accepted Order" is defined by the AOS as, among other things, a "purchase order." JA 1305.

Importantly, the AOS explicitly contemplates potential inconsistencies and conflicts between its terms and conditions and those of Appellees' purchase orders:

If there are any terms or conditions in [a purchase order] which are inconsistent with or in conflict with [the AOS], the terms and conditions of the various documents . . . shall control in the following priority and order: [(1)] the front of the [purchase order]; [(2)] [the AOS]; and, [(3)] then the reverse side terms and conditions of the [purchase order].

JA 1305.

2. Purchase Order 4510044817 and Axiall's General Terms and Conditions

In addition to the AOS, Axiall's Terms and Conditions contain a separate and conflicting indemnification provision, which is purportedly incorporated by reference into all of Axiall's purchase orders:

13.1 [IPI] . . . agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless [Axiall and Eagle Natrium] . . . from and against any and all damages, claims, *demands*, expenses (*including reasonable attorneys' fees*), losses or liabilities of any nature whatsoever, and whether involving injury or damage to any person (including employees of Seller and Buyer) or property, and any and all suits, causes of action and proceedings thereon *arising or allegedly arising from or related to the subject matter of this Purchase Order*, except where such injury or damage was caused by the sole negligence of Buyer. . . .

JA 1318 (emphasis added).

Axiall and Eagle Natrium maintain that the Purchase Order incorporated by reference this indemnification provision via the following language on the *reverse-side* of the Purchase Order: "THIS PURCHASE ORDER IS SUBJECT TO, INCLUDES AND INCORPORATES HEREIN BY REFERENCE THE UNITED STATES PURCHASE ORDER GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR Eagle Natrium LLC LOCATED AT HTTP://WWW.AXIALL.COM/COMPANY." JA 1282–283 (emphasis in original).

III. Procedural History

A. IPI's and Mr. Taylor's Claims Against Axiall and Eagle Natrium

Appellants filed their Complaint on January 29, 2018, alleging five claims with respect to both chlorine gas leaks: (1) Count I for Strict Liability, (2) Count II for Res Ipsa Loquitur, (3) Count III for Premises Liability, (4) Count IV for Fraud, and (5) Count V for Negligent

Misrepresentation. ⁵ JA 23–26. For purposes of this appeal, however, these claims are only relevant to the extent they relate to the First Chlorine Gas Leak because, as explained below, Appellees only sought indemnification for Appellants' claims stemming from the First Chlorine Gas Leak.

On June 17, 2019, Appellees' amended their Answer to include, for the first time, a Counterclaim for, among other claims, Express Indemnity for Appellants' purported failure to indemnify Appellees in relation to the claims filed regarding the chlorine releases. JA 118–42. After being granted leave, Appellees' amended their counterclaim on September 24, 2021 to include a claim for breach of contract for Appellants' failure to indemnify them with respect to the First Chlorine Gas Leak pursuant to the AOS and the Purchase Order. JA 556–93.

B. Axiall's and Eagle Natrium's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Regarding Indemnification

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