14794860.1 

IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 

DOCKET NO. 22-ICA-164 

IPI, INC. and MATTHEW 
JOSEPH TAYLOR, 

Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners 

v. 

AXIALL CORPORATION and 
EAGLE NATRIUM, LLC, 

Defendants Below, Respondents 

Appeal from the Order of the 
Honorable Jeffrey D. Cramer, Judge 

Circuit Court of Marshall County 
Civil Action 18-C-14  

RESPONDENTS’ BRIEF 

William D. Wilmoth (WV Bar #4075) 
Steptoe & Johnson, PLLC 
P.O. Box 751 
Wheeling, WV 26003-0751 
(304) 231-0456 
William.Wilmoth@steptoe-johnson.com 

John R. Callcott (WV Bar #9206)  
Ashley V. Faulkner (WV Bar #14058)
Steptoe & Johnson, PLLC 
P.O. Box 1616 
Morgantown, WV 26507-1616 
(304) 598-8151

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

experts, let alone experts supporting the narrative created from whole cloth by counsel in 

Petitioners’ briefing. Given this record, Petitioners cannot create a genuine issue of material fact 

as to Respondents’ “sole negligence” or willful misconduct in relation to the Railcar Release. 

Based upon the foregoing this Court should affirm summary judgment as to the applicability and 

enforceability of the indemnification provisions.  

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Oral argument is unnecessary. The facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in 

the briefs and appendix record and oral argument would not significantly aid in the decisional 

process. W. Va. R. App. P. 18(a)(4). If the Court determines that oral argument is necessary, 

argument under West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 19 is appropriate because the appeal 

involves assignments of error in the application of settled law.  

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

This Court reviews a Circuit Court’s entry of summary judgement de novo. Syl Pt. 1, 

Painter v. Peavy, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 733 (1994). “This Court may, on appeal, affirm the 

judgment of the lower court when it appears that such judgment is correct on any legal ground 

disclosed by the records, regardless of the ground, reason or theory assigned by the lower court as 

the basis for its judgment.” Syl. Pt. 2, Milmoe v. Paramount Senior Living at Ona, LLC, 247 W. 

Va. 68, 875 S.E.2d 206, (2022) (quoting Syl. Pt. 3, Barnett v. Wolfolk, 149 W. Va. 246, 140 S.E.2d 

466 (1965)).  
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ARGUMENT 

I. The Circuit Court properly analyzed the complimentary indemnification provisions 
to find both applicable to the relevant claims of IPI and Petitioners have waived this 
issue in any event because it was never raised before the Circuit Court.  

Petitioners’ argument regarding purportedly conflicting indemnification provisions was 

never raised before the Circuit Court. While Petitioners seek to style it as an issue arising out of 

the Circuit Court’s decision to find both indemnification clauses applicable, it is in fact an 

argument based on the incorrect proposition that the two overlapping indemnification provisions 

conflict. Because it was not raised below, Petitioners have waived this purported issue. 3

Should the Court nonetheless analyze this assertion, the AOS and the T&Cs reflect 

independent indemnification obligations that overlap without conflict and which the Circuit Court 

properly found to apply to IPI and require indemnification. J.A. 7–10. Petitioners assert a 

“conflict” exists because the T&Cs include the word “demands” and also a parenthetical phrase 

regarding attorney’s fees. Pet’rs Br. at 17–18. Beginning with the AOS, the relevant language 

references indemnification for, “claims, liability, damage, loss, penalties, fines, cost and expense 

of any kind whatsoever. . .” J.A. 715. The language from the T&Cs is similar, requiring 

indemnification for “damages, claims, demands, expenses (including reasonable attorney’s fees), 

losses or liabilities. . .” J.A. 763.  

The phrasing in the AOS either encompasses or is consistent with the language of the 

T&Cs. Petitioners rely upon the supposed difference from the addition of the word “demands” and 

the inclusion of the attorney’s fees parenthetical after the word “expense.” Both “demands” and 

3 “Our general rule is that nonjurisdictional questions not raised at the circuit court level, but raised for the 
first time on appeal, will not be considered.” Harlow v. E. Elec., LLC, 245 W. Va. 188, 198, 858 S.E.2d 
445, 455, n. 33 (2021) (quoting Barney v. Auvil, 195 W. Va. 733, 741, 466 S.E.2d 801, 809 (1995) 
(declining to consider Petitioner’s fourth and fifth assignments of error, because he failed to preserve them 
and had not raised the issues with the circuit court).
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“attorneys’ fees” are reasonably referenced in the AOS, given the broad language of “claims, 

liability, damage, loss . . . cost and expense of any kind whatsoever.” J.A. 1306. Given that the 

AOS language encompasses the highlighted and supposed differences belatedly raised by 

Petitioners, no conflict exists. 

Pennsylvania law requires this conclusion. The fact that an indemnification obligation does 

not explicitly reference attorneys’ fees, does not mean they are not owed. The Pennsylvania 

Supreme Court has found that a provision in a trust agreement requiring that a party, “reimburse 

the Trustee for all its expenditures, and to indemnify and save the Trustee harmless against any 

liabilities which it may incur in the exercise and performance of its powers and duties hereunder,” 

was broad enough to include the payment of attorney’s fees. Fid.-Philadelphia Tr. Co. v. 

Philadelphia Transp. Co., 404 Pa. 541, 548, 173 A.2d 109, 113 (1961). The Court specifically 

held that the broad scope of the language, similar to that found in the AOS, was sufficient to include 

attorney’s fees. Id. at 548–549, 173 A.2d at 113–14. Given this law, and the fact that the language 

of the AOS encompasses any slight variation in the T&Cs, no conflict exists.  

Even if a difference between the clauses were found, it would still not mean that the 

provisions conflict or that they are unenforceable. Conflict suggests irreconcilability, and to the 

extent that an indemnification provision adds to the obligation, nothing need be reconciled. Even 

if a difference were interpreted to exist, it would only mean that one of the provisions creates a 

broader obligation, not that the two are in opposition. Without such a conflict or inconsistency, 

there is no prioritization of agreements and even if a prioritization were necessary, nothing would 

prevent the application of the overlapping obligations as found appropriate by the Circuit Court. 

Finally, to the extent any conflict could be interpreted to exist, the AOS resolves the issue by 

providing for an order of prioritization, with the front of the PO controlling, then the AOS, and 
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then the T&Cs. J.A. 714. Thus, even if a conflict were deemed to exist, it would have no impact 

upon the enforceability of these obligations. Because the provisions do not conflict, and because 

there is language specifically prioritizing the agreements to the extent they do, both are 

enforceable. 

II. The indemnification provisions are clear and unequivocal and similar language has 
routinely been enforced under Pennsylvania law. 

The Circuit Court found that both indemnification provisions were valid and enforceable. 

J.A. 6–10. It is well settled in Pennsylvania that a contract can require indemnification from an 

indemnitee’s own negligence, provided its terms are clear and unequivocal. Perry v. 

Payne, 217 Pa. 252, 66 A. 553 (1907); Bernotas v. Super Fresh Food Markets, Inc., 581 Pa. 12, 

20, 863 A.2d 478, 482–83 (2004) (citing Ruzzi v. Butler Petroleum Co., 527 Pa. 1, 588 A.2d 1, 7 

(1991)).  

A textual examination of the indemnification clauses demonstrates that they encompass 

Petitioners’ claims against Respondents. The AOS indemnification provision relates to, “all 

claims, liability, damage, loss, penalties, fines, cost and expense of any kind whatsoever” and 

expressly includes without limitation “death of or injury to persons or destruction of property 

involving Contractor, its employees, agents and representatives. . .” J.A. 715. The obligation 

extends to claims and damages arising from the “Agreement,” the “Services,” those “sustained in 

connection with performance of the Services,” and also “arising from any cause whatsoever.” Id.

The only exception in the AOS relates to those, “arising out of the sole negligence or willful 

misconduct” of Respondents. Id. The T&Cs contain the exception of “sole negligence” only. J.A. 

763. 

Pennsylvania courts have repeatedly found that indemnification clauses requiring 

indemnification except for sole negligence are clear, unambiguous and enforceable. Babcock & 
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Wilcox Co. v. Fischbach & Moore, Inc., 218 Pa. Super. 324, 328–29, 280 A.2d 582 584–85 (1971); 

Woodburn v. Consolidation Coal Co., 404 Pa. Super. 359, 363–65, 590 A.2d 1273, 1275–77 

(1991); Bernotas, 581 Pa. at 14, 863 A.2d at 479. In Babcock & Wilcox Co., the clause at issue 

required indemnification from “any and all claims” except that, “This agreement shall not include 

injuries or damage due wholly to the negligence . . . of The Babcock & Wilcox Company. . .” 218 

Pa. Super. at 325–26, 280 A.2d at 583. Addressing the question of whether the clause could be 

considered ambiguous, the Court held that the inclusion of the last sentence precluding 

indemnification for sole negligence meant that it was not, and that the language was clearly and 

unequivocally expressed. Id. at 328–29, 280 A.2d at 584. 

Subsequent cases have reiterated the enforceability of indemnification clauses utilizing the 

sole negligence exception. In Woodburn, the Court analyzed a clause providing indemnification 

for “any and all claims and/or demands including all costs and expenses. . .” with the exception 

that indemnification would not apply to claims “caused by the sole negligence of Consol or 

INDUSTRIAL.” 404 Pa. Super at 363, 590 A.2d at 1275. The court found that the language 

precluding indemnification for sole negligence made the clause clear, and that “the negative 

inference to be drawn is that any injuries occurring by less than the sole fault of Industrial fall 

within the scope of the indemnification clause.” Id. at 363–64, 590 A.2d at 1275. The presence of 

the “sole negligence” language made the clause unambiguous and enforceable, particularly in light 

of the holdings of the Perry v. Payne and Ruzzi v. Butler standards. Id. at 363–366, 590 A.2d at 

1275–76. 

More recent case law has again demonstrated that the presence of the “sole negligence” 

language results in a finding of enforceability associated with the indemnification clause. See 

Bernotas, 581 Pa. at 15, 863 A.2d at 479–80. In Bernotas, a customer sued when she fell in a hole 
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at a store. A contractor and subcontractor had been at the location performing work. The 

indemnification agreement between the store and the contractor provided that the contractor would 

“assume entire responsibility and liability for any and all damage or injury of any kind. . . caused 

by the execution of the work provided for in this Contract. . . ,” provided the store was not solely 

negligent. Id. at 14, 863 A.2d at 479. While the opinion focuses largely on a different issue about 

“pass through” indemnification as between the contractor and the subcontractor, as it pertains to 

the agreement between the store and the contractor, the clause was not only considered valid and 

enforceable, but so clearly so that it was “agreed the indemnification provision in Article XII was 

sufficiently specific to require Super Fresh to be indemnified unless it was solely negligent.” Id. 

at 15, 863 A.2d at 480. 

Petitioners fail to address any of the substantive law that found sole negligent exception 

provisions enforceable, instead citing to the Greer decision which analyzes different 

indemnification language. See Greer v. City of Philadelphia 568 Pa. 244, 246, 795 A.2d 376, 377 

(2002). In Greer, the Pennsylvania DOT (“PennDOT”) contracted with J.H. Green Electric 

Company (“Green”) to do some interstate work. Id. at 245–46, 795 A.2d at 377. Green hired CTS 

to undertake traffic management responsibilities. The CTS subcontract contained a  clause in 

which CTS agreed to indemnify and hold harmless PennDOT and Green as against:  

[C]laims, damages, losses and expenses. . . arising out of or resulting 
from the performance of the Subcontractor’s Work under this 
Subcontract. . . but only to the extent caused in whole or in part by 
negligent acts or omissions of the Subcontractor, the 
Subcontractor’s Sub Subcontractors, anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by them or anyone for whose acts they may be liable, 
regardless of whether or not such claim, damage, loss or expense is 
caused in part by a party indemnified hereunder.

Id. at 246, 795 A.2d at 377 (emphasis in the original). During the work associated with the 

contracts, Greer was injured while sitting in traffic. He sued various parties, including PennDOT 
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and Green, and CTS was then added as a party. After a verdict apportioning negligence to several 

parties, PennDOT and Green filed motions seeking indemnification from CTS. The trial court 

permitted indemnification, but the intermediate court of appeals reversed and the Pennsylvania 

Supreme Court agreed. In finding no right of indemnification as to PennDOT and Green from 

CTS, the Court focused upon the language “only to the extent caused in whole or in part by 

negligent acts or omissions of the Subcontractor. . .” and found that it “does not evince an intent 

to provide indemnification for damages due to the negligence of other unspecified parties, 

including an indemnitee.” Id. at 249–50, 379–80. 

The analysis in Greer is irrelevant to this appeal, because the language critical to that case 

is absent from the AOS and the T&Cs. There is no “only to the extent caused in whole or in part 

by negligent acts or omissions of the Subcontractor” language, nor anything like it. To the contrary, 

the IPI indemnification provisions provide for indemnification in several other contexts, including 

“arising from any cause whatsoever,” and “except to the extent arising out of the sole negligence 

or willful misconduct” of Respondents. J.A.715. These clauses are completely different, and 

nothing in Greer undermines the applicable precedent found in Babcock and Wilcox, Woodburn, 

and Bernatos.  

Petitioners also wrongly state that the Circuit Court found that Respondents were entitled 

to indemnification by IPI as a result of “Axiall’s and Eagle Natrium’s negligent conduct under 

these circumstances.” Pet’rs Br. at 21. To the contrary, the Court found that no competent evidence 

had been presented to indicate that Respondents were solely negligent or engaged in willful 

misconduct, a fact not capable of dispute based upon Petitioners’ admissions and lack of proposed 

expert testimony. J.A. 4–5, 826–29. 
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Pennsylvania case law has held that clauses like those in the AOS and T&Cs that include 

an exception for sole negligence are clear, unequivocal, and enforceable. This Court should not 

depart from established precedent or accept Petitioners’ proposed redefinition of Pennsylvania law 

in relation to an agreement long accepted by Mr. Taylor and IPI.  

III. The language of the indemnification clauses in the AOS and T&Cs encompass 
Petitioners’ claims.  

Petitioners wrongly suggest that the “arising out of” language of the indemnification 

clauses should be interpreted to limit these obligations to those claims which are proximately 

related to the work performed by IPI. Pet’rs Br. at 23–29. Petitioners have waived this argument 

because it was not raised before the Circuit Court. 4 Should this Court nonetheless analyze it, the 

proposition is inherently wrong and ignores several aspects of the governing provisions. To begin 

with, the language of the AOS is broad, not only encompassing claims “sustained in connection 

with performance of the Services,” but also “arising out of” the “Agreement,” the “Services” and 

also “arising from any cause whatsoever.” J.A. 715. Likewise, the language of the T&Cs is broader 

than the framework Petitioners suggest. J.A. 763. 

In making their arguments, Petitioners seek to have this Court adopt a radical interpretation 

of “arising out of” that ignores the indemnification language in the AOS and incorporates a concept 

of proximate cause found nowhere in Pennsylvania law. To the contrary, Pennsylvania cases that 

address similar issues adopt a framework that would find the provisions in the AOS and T&Cs 

enforceable. Also, the great weight of persuasive authority suggests that referring to the “services” 

4 “Our general rule is that nonjurisdictional questions not raised at the circuit court level, but raised for the 
first time on appeal, will not be considered.” Harlow v. E. Elec., LLC, 245 W. Va. 188, 198, 858 S.E.2d 
445, 455, n. 33 (2021) (quoting Barney v. Auvil, 195 W. Va. 733, 741, 466 S.E.2d 801, 809 (1995) 
(declining to consider Petitioner’s fourth and fifth assignments of error, because he failed to preserve them 
and had not raised the issues with the circuit court).
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of Petitioners, or the “subject matter of the Purchase Order,” place Petitioners’ alleged injuries and 

claims squarely within the framework of the agreed indemnification, particularly given that 

Petitioners would not have suffered any alleged injury absent their work at the Plant pursuant to

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